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AUTHOR’S NOTE


All the events in this story are true. They have been verified through extensive interviews, records, and documents of the British Air Ministry, the British Museum Archives, the University of London Library, the British Public Records Office, the files of the British Society of Psychical Research, the Royal Aeronautical Society, the Royal Air Force Museum at Hendon, the Parapsychology Foundation, the British College of Psychic Studies, personal dossiers, tape and shorthand transcripts, correspondence, news clips and other sources as listed in the bibliography. No material in the book has been fictionalized.


Particular care has been given to the transcripts of the psychic sessions with mediums. These are reproduced verbatim from either expert shorthand transcriptions or from copious notes of the transcripts of the purported messages. Because they carried so much information and so many clues to the possible validity of the process, such details had a strong influence on the lives of many people. The author has attempted to show these apparent communications with the minimum of editing. They have been taken from the original transcripts still preserved from 1928 to the present.









NOTE TO THE READER


This book had to be written; and I, for one, am profoundly grateful that it appears just at the end of my generation. It will become a prime source for evidence of human survival after death. To deny the basic evidence of Mr. Fuller’s excellent and dedicated work would be as foolish and childish as to deny the existence of the Battle of Waterloo, all of which can be classified as so-called anecdotal material. But only superficial and ill-trained scientists and their followers now deny the great cases of impeccable evidence for survival, of which this triple study constitutes one of the finest. For Mr. Fuller has set down the Hinchliffe, Lowenstein and R.101 cases, in sequence, as they are now seen to be interlocked.


And not only do these cases constitute a prime source of survival evidence; but aeronautical historians, too, must indeed be grateful for the solution, particularly, of the Hinchliffe and R.101 mysteries. The latter is now revealed to include the incredible removal of certain essential documents from the formal evidence in the enquiry, for reasons of either loyalty or self-protection. As a long-time government servant myself, I pray that these documents were not physically destroyed; and that they may one day be recovered from the dark recesses of Whitehall, where some guilty civil servant of the past thought fit to hide them


CHARLES H. GIBBS-SMITH formerly Lindbergh Professor of Aerospace History,
National Air and Space Museum (Smithsonian Institution)
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FOREWORD


We drove toward Hythe, on the English Channel, in a rented Morris Marina, through the hedgerows of the twisting Kentish back road identified on the map as B 2067. It was a scowling October day, windy, gray and inhospitable. The curves in the road left no margin for error. I felt strange and uncomfortable driving in the driver’s seat on the right-hand side, and shifting with my left. Elizabeth, my wife, seated on my left, felt we were brushing too close to the bushes and hedges. I was feeling that we were too close to the middle of the road.


The countryside and the villages we passed through were of surpassing beauty, in spite of the rather angry clouds. The trim, white, half-timbered pubs, with their colorful signs exhorting the traveler to quaff some Courage lager, were inviting. But we had no time to linger. We were just setting off on a new story that was to take us from the English Midlands to the Channel coast—and we were a little shaky and uncertain as to how to go about it.


It was to be another ghost story. With Elizabeth as researcher, I had just finished one, called The Ghost of Flight 401. At that time, we had started out to explore how a jet-age myth or legend could possibly evolve in this day and age. Instead, the story bent back on us to show palpable evidence of the continuation of life after death.


Researching and writing that story had, in fact, changed both our lives. Neither Elizabeth nor I had believed in an afterlife before. We had been forced by the flight 401 story to accept it as a distinct probability. We were further led to believe that verifiable, documented facts could be transmitted from those who have died. Although this has been claimed for years by students of parapsychology, it was entirely new to us, and extremely hard to accept.


Faced with this likelihood for the first time, it became almost impossible to drop the subject, controversial as it is. We wanted to explore other evidence, provided it was well-documented and involved people who were unlikely to be prone to fantasy and exaggeration, and whose experiences interlocked with others in a story that would be difficult to fabricate.


We had with us in the car the raw background material for such a story. It consisted of an enormous dossier of letters, memos, transcripts, news clips and other material preserved over the years since 1928. The material had been made available to us from the files of the Parapsychology Foundation in New York and those of the British Society for Psychical Research. It had been written about before in bits and pieces, but never assembled in a coherent and orchestrated way.


Beyond the material itself, we knew that some of the principal people involved with it were still alive, and willing to talk at length. One of them was Major Oliver G. Villiers, D.S.O., who had assembled a great mass of material involving the story that is to follow, and whom we were driving down to Hythe to visit. His was to be the first of many interviews during our three-month sojourn in England.


The Major was now in his ninety-first year. He had been blind for many years. I had called him from London the evening before. His voice was robust and yeasty, with the rich cadences of the Royal Empire Society, of which he was an honorary life member. He would be delighted to talk with us, he said, and looked forward to having us as guests for lunch the next day.


In the car, we passed by a village pub near Lympne, where a scarlet-coated group of horsemen were preparing to go on the hunt in full regalia. The scene could have stepped out from a Christmas card.


“It’s all so delightfully British,” Elizabeth said. It was the first word that either of us had spoken for several miles.


“I was wondering when I was going to hear from you,” I said. “I thought you were asleep.”


“Just a little drowsy,” she said. “And thinking.”


“About what?”


“About this whole story. How complicated it is.”


“You’re right,” I said. “And we haven’t even started.”


“Do you ever blow hot and cold on this whole business of life after death?” she asked.


“Of course I do,” I said. “Half the time I believe it’s possible, and the other half, I don’t.”


“It’s just about the most important question there is, isn’t it?”


“I think it is,” I said.


“Why?” she asked.


Elizabeth was like this. She would set up a question, and then start to pin you down on it.


“Tell me why you think so, and then I’ll tell you,” I said. “Well,” she said, “if everybody were convinced of it, it would be a helluva lot better world.”


“That answers the question. Just as they’ve been saying for the last two thousand years or more. “


“What I’m getting at,” Elizabeth said, “is that most of us today have a hard time taking this on faith. We can’t do it, even if we try. We talk a different language today. We’ve been brought up on physics and chemistry and electronics and computers. What we’ve been learning in our research is that the old truths become stronger today if they’re translated into computer language. Does that make sense?”


“Sort of,” I said. “But what are you ultimately driving at?”


“I guess what I’m trying to say is that it’s important to work on this story, even though the research will be tough.”


I agreed with her. We would have to be digging up dusty information from buried files scattered all through England. If we didn’t believe the story was important, we’d probably give up too easily. Piecing together the background for any story is always difficult. When it goes back nearly fifty years, and deals with such an elusive and ephemeral story as the possible reality of life after death, it can become exhausting and overwhelming. At the start it looks like climbing Everest. When it’s over, it seems as if that’s what it was. Elizabeth and I found that we had to constantly jack ourselves up to keep going. It was something that never got easier.


By now, we were moving down a steep hill into Hythe. Not far off to the east were Folkestone and the white cliffs of Dover. After circling back up another hill to the Saltwood section of Hythe, we could catch a glimpse of the Channel, which for years had been England’s moat, from the days of the Romans. Major Villiers’ white stucco, blue-trimmed house sat along a quiet suburban street, high on the Saltwood hill, not far from the ancient castle there. By now, it was cold and rainy.


From what we had seen of the research material, however, the story looked promising. From letters and diaries and memos, it would be possible to reconstruct the thoughts of many of the people involved. They would provide a stream of consciousness and a flow of reaction without fictionalizing. This to me was important. A book of this nature must be accurate. But it should also be as readable as a novel, if the mood and atmosphere were to be preserved. A sense of immediacy can enhance a nonfiction book, if it precisely reflects what the character involved was thinking and feeling at the time. Already, much of the research showed such support. Further interviews would reconstruct many missing links, all of which would add to the readability without distorting facts in any way. We were encouraged by this. We hustled from the car to the doorway, trying to keep our files of materials and tape recorder dry.


Mrs. Hayes, a cheery housekeeper from London, admitted us. We walked through a darkish hall to the door of the drawing room. The hallway was English: it was cold.


“The Major is expecting you,” she said. “There will be lunch in half an hour.”


She tapped lightly on the door and opened it for us. The Major was sitting in his chair by the electric fireplace. It was rather dark in the room, and a little hard to see him. He rose without effort, for all his ninety-one years, and his hand went out to the corner of the mantle. This must have been a key buoy marker for navigating without sight. The paint on the corner was worn off.


“So nice to have you visit,” the Major said. “Please sit down close to the fire. It’s a bit raw today. “


After an exchange of pleasantries, we did so. The Major cautiously backed to his chair, using his right hand as a guide, sliding it down the smooth surface of the Queen Anne chair, then easing himself down in it. The Major was tall. His smooth face showed almost no wrinkles. Although sightless, he seemed to look directly at us with closed eyelids. He was dressed in a Harris tweed jacket over a Shetland sweater, out of which peeked a regimental striped tie. He wore gray flannels and slippers.


“You have the duplicate file with you?” he asked.


We had. It almost filled a large cardboard carton. We had spent days having the material photocopied from the archives where the Major and others had deposited it for safekeeping. It was only part of the story, for there were still other files and archives we would need. The Major, however, was a focal point. The rest of the story would be woven from a variegated background that involved almost the entire pioneer history of aviation.


“I think it is best,” the Major said, “that we begin at the beginning, and read straight through to the end. Of course, with my blindness, that puts an enormous burden on your vocal cords. Are you up to it?”


“Elizabeth and I will trade off,” I said.


“I imagine it will take many days,” the Major said. “We shall probably get to know each other quite well by the time we’re finished, old boy.”


“We’re prepared for it, Major,” I said.


“Good,” said the Major, as the chime on the clock announced the time: quarter of one. “And now it’s time for our sherry. And then lunch if you’re ready for it.”


I assured him we were. Within moments, Mrs. Hayes entered with a sterling silver tray carrying three delicate sherry glasses and a cut-glass decanter. She poured the Major’s glass carefully. Then she put it down on the table beside him, reaching for his hand and locking his fingers carefully around the stem. Then she served us.


“Cheers,” said the Major.


We returned the salutation.


“I’m glad you have come,” he said. “I am convinced that the time has arrived when the story should be told in full.”


THE PRINCIPAL AIRMEN


This book could be called a case history of a phenomenon that began in 1928 and continues to the present. There are many people involved. They are all real. No names below have been changed.


Lt. Commander N. G. Atherstone First Officer of the British Airship R-101


Lord Beaverbrook British newspaper magnate


Sir Sefton Brancker


Director of Civil Aviation British Air


Ministry


Edward Carpenter


British social commentator


W. Charlton


Supply Officer, R-101


Wing Commander R. B. E. Colmore


Director of Airship Development (Technical)


Ian Coster


Australian journalist


Fit. Ltd. H.C. Irwin


Captain of the R-101


Sq. Ldr. E. L. Johnston


Navigator of the R-101


James Joyce


Novelist


Charles Levine


American backer of trans-Atlantic attempts


Alfred Lowenstein,


Belgian financier


Hon. Elsie Mackay


Prominent British heiress


Hewat McKenzie


British College of Psychic Science


Sq. Ldr. Rivers Oldmeadow


RAF Staff College, Hants.


Air Chief Marshal Lord Dowding Chief Air Marshal, credited with winning Battle of Britain


Sir Arthur Conan Doyle


Creator of Sherlock Holmes


Eileen Garrett


Leading clairvoyant, psychic researcher, and publisher


Sir Victor Goddard


British Air Marshal


Col. G. L. P. Henderson


RAF pilot


Capt. W.G.R. Hinchliffe


Pioneer trans-Atlantic flyer


Emilie Hinchliffe


His wife


Lord Inchcape


Chairman, P. & O. Lines


Harry Price


Prominent psychic investigator


Lt. Commander V. C. Richmond


Designer of the R-101


Major G. H. Scott


Director of Airship Development


Nevil Shute


Aeronautical engineer, novelist


Sir John Simon


British statesman and jurist


Capt. Gordon Sinclair


close friend of the Hinchliffes’


Lord Thomson of Cardington


British Secretary of State for Air


Maj. Oliver G. Villiers


Air Ministry Intelligence


Fit. Lt. W. H. Wood


RAF pilot and commentator









CHAPTER I


On the evening of March 12, 1928, there was set in motion a long chain of events that has brought many discerning, and even skeptical, people to the unalterable conclusion that there is life after death.


It all began in the most unlikely way, in the Lincolnshire village of Grantham, not far from Boston, England. It was from this English port that the founders of Massachusetts Bay Colony had set sail, nearly three hundred years before. But it was now 1928, and on this damp and chilled March night, a decision was made for a venture that held even greater risks than those faced by the Bay Colonists. Yet the target was the same: a safe voyage to the New World.


This time it was a Stinson Detroiter monoplane, instead of the fragile sailing ship that carried John Cotton and his Puritans in 1633. But the monoplane was fragile, too. It was only 32 feet long, with disc wheels and a tail skid. Its single engine was a 200 horsepower Wright Whirlwind. Its speed, at sea level, was 128 miles an hour. Unloaded, it weighed about 2,000 pounds. It was appropriately named the Endeavor. It had gold-tipped wings and a black fuselage. Its pilot would be Captain W. G. R. Hinchliffe.


Hinchliffe was one of the most seasoned pilots of his time. In the First World War, he had shot down seven German planes, and for this he received the Distinguished Flying Cross. In one of these flights, a German bullet had shattered the bridge of his nose and left him blind in the left eye. He wore a patch over it, but he bore it as a mark of modest heroic distinction. Despite this loss, he was reported to have more flying time than any pilot in Britain. He had collected 9,000 hours of flying time as a pilot for both KLM, in its early days in the Netherlands, and Imperial Airways, the first major British airline. Because of his eye patch, he liked to fly in the co-pilot’s seat on the right-hand side of the cockpit. This, he felt, gave him better visibility.


At dinner at the Hotel George in Grantham that night, Hinchliffe was tense, but confident. The atmosphere in the dining room of the ancient hotel was relaxing; the food was steaming; the service was excellent. Dickens stayed there once, writing part of Nicholas Nickleby. He had pronounced it “one of the best Inns in England.” Isaac Newton lived in one part of it for a while.


There were two people at the table with Hinchliffe. One was Captain Gordon Sinclair, a fellow pilot. Like Hinchliffe, he was in his early thirties, and full of the obsessional passion for flying that marked the early history of aviation. There was also Elsie Mackay—the Honourable Elsie Mackay—striking, vivacious, persuasive. Now at the age of thirty-four, she had conquered the London stage and British cinema as an actress. She was also an accomplished horsewoman, a marine engineer and a pilot in her own right. She was considered one of the best-dressed women in England.


She was the daughter of James Lyle Mackay, Lord Inchcape, who ruled over the profitable P.&O. shipping empire. It was noised about that she was probably the richest heiress in England. And she was certainly the reason that these three were meeting at dinner that night. The final decision was about to be made to fly the Stinson Detroiter against the winter headwinds across the Atlantic. It could become the first east-to-west trans-Atlantic airplane flight. The Hon. Elsie Mackay could be the first woman to make the crossing in either direction.


What none of the diners could know was that this event would launch a complex and incredible ghost story that would carry down to the present time, through a labyrinth of circumstances involving leading airmen, air ministry officials, air marshals, ships, planes, lords, ladies and notables.


These were the days of hope and glory. The bitter memories of the First World War had faded; the clouds of the Second had not yet gathered. The Twenties was the decade of record breakers and “firsts”: the first television demonstration, the first woman to swim the English Channel, the first talking picture, the first Oscar Awards, the first Mickey Mouse cartoon, the first New York-to-London telephone call.


Jelly Roll Morton and his Red Hot Peppers were breaking records in Chicago, while Babe Ruth cracked his record-breaking sixtieth home run in Yankee Stadium. Everyone was singing Making Whoopee and Crazy Rhythm, while they were sweating under the heavy gyroscopic demands of the Charleston and the Black Bottom. Gene Tunney was taking the heavyweight championship away from Jack Dempsey.


Everything that happened in aviation seemed to grab headlines. Lindbergh, of course, had grabbed the biggest the previous year. In the balmy May days of 1927, he flew alone from New York to Paris. He set up a mad scramble of followers to conquer the Atlantic, either because it was there, or because there was lavish prize money ready to be plucked from the carrot stick.


On any route, the hop across the Atlantic involved some 2,000 miles of open water with no place to land. Several precarious flights had been made. One of them saw twenty-one U.S. destroyers stretched in a line across the interminable ocean; as if to catch a faltering plane in a net. They did. They safely picked up the American plane NC-4, as if it were a drenched, faltering water spaniel. The outlook for practical commercial or even military flights in heavier-than-air machines was considered a myth, a daydream.


There was one hope, though: the dirigible, the rigid airship. These cumbersome giants pointed the way with optimism. Copied from the German Zeppelins that had brought bombing terror to London during the First World War, the big airborne cigars could, with proper development, create the only way to conquer the Atlantic with a reasonable payload of freight or passengers.


It was only natural that the dirigible held the greatest hope for mass travel. Back in the 1780’s, they were designing elongated, sausage-shaped balloons. They were to be propelled by enormously wide paddles. Some of them had a mainsail, a jib and a rudder. Some of the paddles had webbed feet, like those of a swan. One of these balloons actually sailed in Paris in 1783. For lift, they used “inflammable air,” as they called hydrogen.


In 1852, a French engineer named Henri Giffard tried a steam engine in spite of the danger of hydrogen, and managed to reach the speed of 7 miles an hour. When the twentieth century began, Germany began taking the lead from France, after Count Ferdinand von Zeppelin designed the first rigid dirigible. Count von Zeppelin was a visionary. He looked forward to the time when his rigid-frame ships, holding individual cells filled with hydrogen, would carry mail, passengers and freight.


He wasn’t wrong. Powered by Daimler gasoline engines and fitted with cabins equipped with upholstered seats, they flew well. By 1914, they had made 1,588 flights for a total of over 100,000 miles and over 3,000 hours. They carried nearly 35,000 passengers without a fatality. Some were wood-framed, but Count von Zeppelin liked metal. He also held many basic patents, and his lead over other countries enabled Germany to put nearly 80 of these ships into war service, some of them over 600 feet in length. The British ended the war with only four airships in service, while Germany’s foresight and expertise made the country a pace setter in this hope for the future.


Although the winged gnats were breeding faster than these huge silver whales, the British airship R-34 had softly and neatly slipped across the Atlantic from Scotland to Long Island all the way back in 1919. The same airship also returned safely under the command of Major George Herbert Scott at an average speed of 45 miles an hour, a complete round trip that would take years to duplicate in any aircraft.


In 1928, a David-and-Goliath battle was shaping up between the airship and the aeroplane, as it was spelled then in England. No one took these heavier-than-air midgets seriously for long-distance travel. Britain, vying with the United States and Germany, already had two enormous airships on the drawing boards. The ships were plunged halfway into reality, in sheds large enough to hold the biggest ocean liner. The R-100 and the R-101 would be the largest airships in the world, each over 700 feet long. They would carry the hopes of the air-age empire with them. In 1928, they were not far from completion.


Captain Hinchliffe, at the dinner table with his two confederates in Grantham, was not likely to be thinking about the airship competition. He had had his mind set on conquering the Atlantic since 1919, when two other British airmen, John Alcock and Arthur Brown, had flown their clumsy Vickers Vimy biplane from Newfoundland to Northern Ireland. It was just a short time ahead of the R-34’s quiet triumph. The Vickers Vimy ended nose down in a watery Irish bog, its canvas wings and fuselage crumpled and its struts buckled. But the feat inspired Hinchliffe relentlessly over the years.


All through his days as a commercial pilot with KLM and Imperial Airways, the trans-Atlantic fever burned in Hinchliffe. Once, in Amsterdam, he demonstrated a tiny craft called the Avro Baby, and let it be known that he wouldn’t mind trying the Atlantic in it. There he also met Emilie, a tall, appealing Dutch brunette who was soon to become his wife. For a while the trans-Atlantic fever subsided. They had a daughter. Another child was on the way. They were devoted to their daughter and to each other.


Then 1927 arrived. Just days after Lindbergh, a pilot named Chamberlin, with his flamboyant fiscal sponsor named Charles Levine, flew the single-engine Bellanca Miss Columbia from New York to Germany, nearly 4,000 miles nonstop for a record. On that run, of course, they had the wind with them. For Levine, hardly a pilot, the trip was a lark. He wanted to turn around immediately and fly back to New York. But Chamberlin knew the risks of the west-to-east headwinds. He refused to accommodate him.


With the mood of the Twenties and the status of aviation, anything could happen. Levine managed to fly his own plane back from Germany as far as the Croydon aerodrome in London. But he couldn’t land it. After bounding high off the runway, a local plane went up and guided him down. Undaunted, Levine looked for a pilot and more financing. He got both. Hinchliffe, promised a leave of absence from Imperial Airways, volunteered and began making meticulous plans.


It would not be easy. The fuel required would take up every inch of space. As the petrol tanks became depleted, they would have to be thrown overboard to lighten the load and make some space for resting in the cramped fuselage. The actual cruising speed was only 84 miles an hour. The flight against the headwinds could last up to forty hours, if not more.


Behind Hinchliffe’s drive was not only the glory. He needed money and more security. He had a wife he loved and a family to support. He figured his needs carefully. His price was £10,000—about $50,000 in those days, at a time when the distinguished author Aldous Huxley was living comfortably in the South of France on £300 a year. In the Twenties, $50,000 was a considerable fortune, worth roughly a quarter of a million today. It would take care of his family, if the worst happened. If the best happened, his fame would automatically bring him security.


But the flamboyant Levine’s next move brought Hinchliffe up short. The hopes of being the first woman to fly the Atlantic smouldered in the breasts of several women—notably heiresses. Levine got a last-minute offer he couldn’t resist. Mabel Boll offered £.10,000 if she could tag along with him and Hinchliffe. She had just succeeded in lifting the eyebrows of Paris by stepping out of her bright green Rolls Royce wearing a £25,000 jumper put together with gold and platinum threads. It was framed by a 62-carat diamond on one hand, and a 42-carat diamond on the other.


Hinchliffe, cautious and painstaking in spite of his burning ambition, flatly refused to fly with her as a passenger. The flight was canceled, and Hinchliffe went on to explore other possibilities.


Hinchliffe’s caution was well-founded. He had watched two of his friends take off from Salisbury Plain for Montreal in a Fokker monoplane in 1927. Pilots Minchin and Hamilton were hired by the sixty-year-old Princess Lowenstein-Wertheim to ferry her across as the first woman contender. They set off into rugged headwinds, crossed Ireland, went out over the Atlantic, and were never heard from again.


Meanwhile Elsie Mackay, the British heiress, was pursuing her own dream. She was placating her father, Lord Inchcape, by designing the interiors of the P.&O. luxury liners that steamed regularly to the Orient in those glorious days of the Empire.


Elsie Mackay was both posh and popular. She knew people, people who counted. She also knew that her ambition to be the first woman to fly the Atlantic must never reach the ears of her father. She worked quietly, pulling strings everywhere. She persuaded high officials at the British Air Ministry to put her in touch with Captain Hinchliffe. She also swore them to secrecy. If Lord Inchcape found out, he would do everything in his power to stop the venture.


Aware of her father’s predilections, Elsie Mackay approached Captain Hinchliffe cautiously. She took him to lunch at the Ritz. While the traffic rattled by on Piccadilly, she made offers. They were not sexual. She offered him £80 a month and all expenses. She offered to send him to America to buy a plane. He was to have carte-blanche in choosing it. She guaranteed him all prize money, and she would insure his life for £10,000. He, in turn, must keep everything secret about her involvement. One slip would bring the wrath of Lord Inchcape down on them. She, of course, was to be co-pilot and passenger. They would share the fame, and he, since she didn’t need it, would receive the fortune.


At home, Hinchliffe discussed the project with his wife, Emilie. There was a lot to think about. Hinchliffe was no amateur. He knew the risks. But he also knew how to cope with them. They both agreed that it was now or never. His dependence on only one remaining eye was bound to affect his future as a commercial pilot. He could no longer consider medicine, a subject he had once studied. With their second daughter now born, Hinchliffe’s career and security were vital. As an east-to-west prototype of Lindbergh, he could bring honor to England and security to himself and family.


The key to the matter was the insurance. If the worst did happen it would be there, and Emilie and the children would not suffer. The thought of a possible tragedy of course occurred to them both. Except for the baptism of their daughters, religion played little, if any, part in their lives. Hinchliffe preferred to rely on himself, his initiative, his skill.


One of the few times the subject of religion was mentioned was when both of them happened to read an article by a prominent British journalist in London’s Sunday Express. It was on the subject of spiritualism, of the possibility of life after death.


These were the days when Sir Arthur Conan Doyle had forsaken Sherlock Holmes to explore the psychic world, with all the agility and acumen of the fictional detective he had created. Sir Oliver Lodge, the distinguished physicist, had become convinced of the survival of life after death, and had written eloquently in his book Raymond of his spirit communications, through mediums, with his son, killed in battle in the First World War. The Earl of Balfour, the former Prime Minister of England, was assembling communications from mediums that convinced him he was in touch with the deceased woman he loved. Henri Bergson, the major French philosopher and Nobel Prize winner, had become convinced of survival after death. Camille Flammarion, the prominent French astronomer, announced his conviction that there was palpable evidence of an afterlife.


Carl Jung, after intensive study of psychic phenomena, became impressed with their reality, and urged that they be studied scientifically. A medium named Eileen Garrett had recently emerged, startling scientific and psychic researchers in London with her capacity to uncover massive, confirmable details in apparent communication with those who had died. Dr. Nandor Fodor, a prominent psychoanalyst, was working on his studies about the relationship of the paranormal to psychoanalysis. Even Sigmund Freud had written a letter stating: “I am not one of those who, from the outset, disapprove of the study of so-called occult psychological phenomena as unscientific, unworthy, or even dangerous. If I were at the beginning of a scientific career, instead of as now, at its end, I would perhaps choose no other field of work, in spite of its difficulties.”


Hinchliffe and his wife discussed the article briefly and dismissed it. Their consensus was that it was all ridiculous, absurd and impossible. Captain Hinchliffe punctuated his feelings by telling Emilie at the time: “It’s all total nonsense.” Hinchliffe would have to depend on more than religion or spiritualism to get a 32-foot-long airplane over the Atlantic. Within the previous ten months, seven men and one woman had lost their lives trying to cross against the west-to-east headwinds.


The tempo of the Roaring Twenties was unique, and it was frenetic. It seemed that nothing could be done in moderation. Millionaires were in the headlines every day. They were worshiped as well as hated. They made good copy, whatever their exploits.


Captain Hinchliffe had a friend who typified these millionaires. He was Captain Alfred Lowenstein, a Belgian financier who turned bankruptcy into millions through this uncanny genius. And he lived up to the tradition. He had palaces in Belgium and England, but he would often take an entire floor at Claridge’s when he stayed in London. He liked airplanes. He owned a Fokker Tri-Motor, fitted with luxurious carpeting and furnishings, which ferried him back and forth between London and Brussels in two hours. He was a skilled horseman, with an obsession for physical fitness, even though he suffered from the gout. He had professional boxers and a physical trainer among his numerous attendants.


Lowenstein often talked with Hinchliffe about planes, but never offered to back his projected flight across the Atlantic. But Hinchliffe was fond of him, often referring to him as Old Lowenstein. Neither knew that they might be meeting each other in the future, under the strangest of unearthly circumstances.


For nearly two weeks, from the beginning of March 1928, Hinchliffe had been checking and rechecking his plane at the Cranwell aerodrome of the Royal Air Force College, near Grantham. Elsie Mackay, using her charm and persuasion, had seen to it they could use the mile-long RAF runway, because no other in England could handle the takeoff of the high-wing, black-and-gold Stinson, with its full load of gasoline to handle the 3,000-to-4,000-mile trip.


The field was isolated, on the edge of the East Anglia fens, swept by the winds that have been said to drive the local citizens mad at times. There was snow and ice everywhere, and unending, uninviting leaden skies. It was a good place for the needed secrecy. About the only intruders near the aerodrome were the fox hunters in their scarlet tunics. The hunters were sometimes forced to clear the RAF runway of the fox and fox hounds.


While Hinchliffe went about his business, life continued as usual in the Grantham area, especially the hunt. One local squire had sufficiently recovered from a sprained hip to join the Prince of Wales, the Duke of York and the Duke of Marlborough for several rousing hunts over the snow-covered heaths during the week before the Hinchliffe flight. For the most part, the scent was lost and the fox got away unscathed.


In the first days of March, Hinchliffe had arrived at the Hotel George in Grantham with his wife and friend Gordon Sinclair, trying to shroud everything in secrecy. In this town of 25,000, where Richard III had condemned the Duke of Buckingham to death at the Angel and Royal Inn, secrecy was hard to come by. Elsie Mackay arrived later with two maids, two cars and two chauffeurs. One maid, Sophie Ries, signed in for the party.


By dinnertime on Tuesday, March 12, Hinchliffe was confident he was ready. In fact, he had to be. The Royal Air Force had made it known that they could no longer continue to make the aerodrome available to him. Further, Lord Inchcape was now sure his daughter was going to attempt the trans-Atlantic flight, and had dispatched her brother to Grantham to plead with her. Her explanation that she was only an interested bystander, with a minor financial interest in the project, did not ring exactly true. Gordon Sinclair, who wistfully wanted to make the flight as co-pilot, knew that he was only acting as a shill to divert attention away from Elsie Mackay. Further pressure on Hinchliffe was the announcement that a German crew would shortly be ready to attempt the east- west crossing, nullifying all of Hinchliffe’s efforts to be first.


The main subject at dinner was weather maps and charts. There was no turning back now, and in spite of the pressure there was no desire to. After dinner, there was only one minor job to do. Someone had taken some motion pictures of the Endeavor, showing how she handled on takeoff from the snow-covered runway at the Cranwell aerodrome. It would be helpful for Hinchliffe to study the results.


At the Grantham Picture House, a double feature was playing. Laura La Plante was starring in The Cat and The Canary, followed by Charlie Chaplin in The Pilgrim. When both pictures had been run for the general audience, Hinchliffe and his confederates slipped into the theatre to screen the film of the Endeavor’s takeoffs. London reporters, now on the trail, caught them at the empty theatre. They demanded to know if Elsie Mackay was going to try to be the first woman to fly the Atlantic. They denied it. Gordon Sinclair continued the ruse by announcing he was to be the copilot, and that they still didn’t know whether the Endeavor was going to fly east or west. Hinchliffe, in a skillful maneuver to give the slip to the reporters, invited them to the theatre the following night to view the flight pictures with him. By that time, Hinchliffe hoped to be nearing Newfoundland.


The party returned to the George Hotel, past the gas lamppost on High Street, and left a call with the night porter for 4:00 a.m. Before she went to bed, Elsie Mackay ordered enough sandwiches to feed two people for a period of three days. They were made of pate de fois gras, chicken, beef and ham. She supervised the packaging of them, along with Thermos flasks of chicken soup, turtle soup, tea and coffee. She assembled her flying kit, leather suit, helmet, gloves and goggles.


The call left with the night porter was unnecessary. All awoke before dawn. In the darkness, Elsie Mackay slipped out of the hotel and made her way to the Rectory of the Grantham Catholic Church. Here she took Holy Communion from a sleepy priest and received his blessing.


On the way to the airport in two cars, there was evidence that Hinchliffe was having second thoughts about having Elsie Mackay as his co-pilot. There was no room for three, yet Gordon Sinclair was a veteran pilot. Hinchliffe could use his experience and muscle. Sinclair didn’t like being a shill, but he also recognized that without the young heiress, the flight would have been impossible. From a distance, Sinclair saw Elsie Mackay crying and apparently pleading with Hinchliffe not to change his mind. He didn’t.


The winds blowing into town from the snow-covered heath were biting. Even the local hunt for the day was cancelled; the snow was too deep. At the Cranwell aerodrome, the Endeavor was waiting, a clumsy, flimsy, hump-back silhouette on the bleak grass runway, trembling in the stiff winds. Gordon Sinclair got in the plane first, pantomiming the ruse to the bitter end. An RAF officer handed Hinchliffe a weather report. A rare easterly wind was forecast; a good omen.


Someone took a picture of Elsie Mackay and Hinchliffe, standing in their leather flying suits near the flimsy tail of the plane. Elsie Mackay was smiling, but the smile looked forced. Hinchliffe, with the patch over his left eye, looked grim. After the picture-taking, he scrawled a final sentence in his diary, and handed it to Sinclair. It read: “My confidence in the success of the venture is now 100 per cent.”


At 8:35 a.m., Elsie Mackay replaced Gordon Sinclair in the crammed cockpit. Hinchliffe climbed into the co-pilot’s seat, not because he wouldn’t be flying the plane, but because of his useless left eye. The plane lumbered down the runway.


The aircraft stumbled along the grass and snow, swaying under its brutally heavy load. Just as it seemed to be running out of runway, the plane lifted. It appeared to be struggling to climb, but it climbed, shrinking into a black dot in the sky. Only Gordon Sinclair, two chauffeurs and some RAF staff men saw it fade in the distance. The next communication to be heard from Captain Hinchliffe would be so strange that only a rigid examination of the facts revealed would make it even remotely believable.


The crew of designers, engineers, airmen and laborers at the elephantine hangar of the government’s Royal Airship Works in Bedford-Cardington, in the Midlands, were little concerned with flights like those of Hinchliffe. Most of them knew “Hinch,” liked him and wished him well. But they could afford to wait. What future trans-Atlantic passenger would be interested in jamming between gasoline cans on a hard seat in a moth-sized airplane, when he could be riding in comfort in the new R-101 airship? Within months, perhaps before 1928 was over, this mammoth 732-foot- long skyliner would slip out of its shed to be tested in its role as an air link for most of the British empire. Its sister ship, the R-100, would be ready soon, too. It was just a few feet shorter and it was being built by Vickers, a private company. The Air Ministry, therefore, looked on it more as an adopted child.


The R-101 would be the largest dirigible ever constructed. Britannia would not only rule the waves; she would become the Mistress of the Air. Passengers would literally be able to fox trot all the way to India on the floating palais de danse gracing the passenger deck. They would be able to promenade along the slanted windows of the ship, or relax in deck chairs to look down on the sea or land below them. Fifty dinners could be served at one time in a separate salon, with freshly cooked, seven-course dinners supplied from an all-electric kitchen. After dinner, there would be a cigar or two in the safely sealed, lavishly furnished smoking room. Then to bed in a comfortable stateroom that could almost match those on an ocean liner.


All this was not a dream. The 732-foot frame of the R-101 was already two-thirds completed. The bones of stainless steel and duraluminium hung from the ceiling of the hangar like the skeleton of a giant dinosaur. It would rank in size and comfort with the largest Cunard and White Star ocean liners.


At the time of Hinchliffe’s precarious takeoff, Major Oliver G. Villiers, Senior Assistant Intelligence Officer in the British Air Ministry, had his hands full. All phases of civil aviation were burgeoning, including the blossoming of the R-101. As editor-in-chief of both the official journal and the annual report of the Air Ministry, Villiers had to keep on top of every aviation development scattered throughout the empire. As it neared completion, the R-101 was demanding more and more attention, because the prestige of the empire was considered to depend on it.


At the age of forty-four, Villiers still carried with him vivid recollections of the First World War, when he rode in the nose of a Vickers “Gun Bus,” a propeller whirring behind his head, eager to chop it off if he was thrown backward by a steep nose dive. Using the Morse Code and an Aldis signal lamp, he would flash back the German positions to the British artillery posts. From the plane, he would take occasional pot shots at the enemy with a conventional infantry rifle. He had many narrow escapes. For his work, he received the Croix de Guerre, the Legion of Honour and the Distinguished Service Order awards.


In 1928, he was pressed to the limit in keeping up with his boss, Air Vice Marshal Sir Sefton Brancker, Director of Civil Aviation. Villiers both loved and hated Brancker. The pace Brancker set in his drive to make British aviation the world leader was barely short of breathtaking. Brancker was short, jaunty, dapper and relentless. He was an evangelist, a missionary for air development. He had an RAF-type mustache, and he constantly wore a rimless monocle. As a born prankster, he would at times shock his fellow airmen by literally chewing up and swallowing the eyepiece.


Few of his staff could keep up his work pace. Impatient, he would often startle Villiers by bursting into his office, shaking his monocle at him, and yelling, “For God’s sake, man, use your damned intelligence!”


Villiers, in fact, was using his intelligence, and using it well. He was just a little slower than the hyperthyroid demands put upon him by Brancker, who was otherwise a delightful character. Both men were preoccupied with the R-101, which was facing the scrutiny of taxpayers, critics and members of Parliament.


The critics felt the big silver fish could easily turn into a white elephant. In spite of the 1919 Atlantic roundtrip of the R-34, the track record of these behemoths was not good. The French dirigible Dixmude had smashed into the Mediterranean in 1920, killing all fifty-one hands. In 1922, the U.S. Navy bought the Italian-designed Roma, and watched the huge airship nose down into high-tension cables near Langley Field in Virginia, killing most of its crew. Undiscouraged, the Navy then ordered the British R-38 and watched it break in half over the Humber River, with all but a handful of crew killed. The American-built Shenandoah shared the same fate, snapping into three parts over Ohio in a violent updraft. Thanks to helium gas instead of inflammable hydrogen, twenty out of thirty-four crew members lived to tell about it. Even the successful R-34 was smashed to death at its mooring mast during a violent storm.


There was still optimism, even though the British public had to be sold on airships. Brancker and Villiers saw to it that the press was supplied with every chunk of data they could assemble. There were many good things to talk about.


Both the R-100 and the R-101 were to be the safest airships ever built. Both would supply an impossible dream for the Empire: India in 5 or 6 days; Egypt in 2 or 3 days; Canada in 3; Australia in 10 days. The ships would carry scores of passengers and tons of mail to the scattered imperial countries. Already, there were requests for reservations on file. Mr. Samuel Jacobs, of Paterson, New Jersey, had sent a $5 deposit to book a single-berth cabin at the projected trans-Atlantic price of £120; he could have ordered space in a four-berth cabin for only £80. Giant mooring masts nearly 200 feet high, were being erected in Karachi; in Ismailia, Egypt; and in Montreal to handle the craft. They would be taller than Lord Nelson’s column in Trafalgar Square. Large elevators would carry passengers and cargo to the top of the mast, where they would enter the nose of the ship through a covered gangway. Jules Verne and H. G. Wells could not have had such a dream. The luxury hotel of the air had arrived. The future had come to pass.


The R-101 was the brainchild of Lord Thomson of Cardington, Secretary of State for Air for Ramsay MacDonald in 1924 and again in 1929, when MacDonald returned to his post as prime minister. When he had received his peerage, he picked the “Cardington” designation because of his love for the R-101, born in the RAF works there. Like Brancker and Villiers, who worked under him, he was driven in his desire to bring these aerial liners into fruition. He made little secret that the R-101 was his pet. As a member of the Labour government, he leaned heavily toward the state-built R-101 over private enterprise’s model, the R-100. The competition between the two groups was fierce; each wanted to be first off the line.


Lord Thomson, tall, aloof, classically handsome, was fifty-five years old and a bachelor. He spoke with the lyricism and timbre of the Old Vic theatre. For years, he had been having a frustrated love affair with Princess Bibesca of Romania. She was married to Prince Carol, and therefore unavailable in conventional terms. A man with a massive ego, Lord Thomson had an additional reason to favor the R-101. The ship was being groomed for the run to India, and he had his eye on the post of viceroy there in the not too distant future.


From the start, reaction to the flamboyant Lord Thomson on the part of the operations officers and men was sullen, but not quite mutinous. According to Villiers, he was arrogant. To Brancker, he was a puzzlement. To a young chief engineer on the R-100 staff named Nevil Shute, he was a pompous ass. Shute, a skilled aeronautical engineer who was just beginning to learn he could write good novels, saw in Thomson the vainglory of a political opportunist who was pushing the R-101 as his own personal air yacht.


However, Nevil Shute considered his engineering job on the R-100 a religious experience. He was annoyed by the male and female laborers frequently found copulating in the dark corners of the huge Vickers shed but he willingly climbed the icy, naked girders of the airship, slung over a hundred feet above the ground, because he believed and agreed with Lord Thomson on one point: the importance of practical air communication throughout the British Empire. Britain had to take the lead in this, or it would cease to be the Empire.


Brancker and Villiers, the personification of Empire men, felt the same. This tenuous thread kept the in-fighting to an almost acceptable level. They were all in this semireligious enterprise together, which in turn made the extensive love-hate syndromes sufferable. As with Hinchliffe and his fragile Stinson, nothing could stop them from plunging ahead.


Although there were no giant airships in the English skies at this time, there soon would be—if not by the end of 1928, at least in 1929. Meanwhile, the British public waited with mixed emotions. In general, it was intrigued by the idea of the floating hotels and the potential British dominion over the skies, even if it was not enchanted with the million pounds sterling the ships were costing the taxpayer.


During this period of watchful waiting, Eileen Garrett, the medium who was drawing so much attention with her uncanny perception and insights, had other thoughts on her mind. She had startled psychic researchers at several institutions with her apparent gift for clairvoyance and precognition. She was in her thirties, darkhaired, striking in appearance, vivacious, and not at all in the cliche image of a medium. Her only connection with airships was that in her youth she had seen the German Zeppelins moving over London and dropping bombs during the First World War. The scenes didn’t leave her with happy thoughts. But right now she was mainly concerned to discover just what this mediumship business was all about.


She found her slowly developing ability to foresee future events and to experience dramatic episodes of clairvoyance and telepathy considerably disturbing. She could not explain the incidents to herself, and was having trouble finding anyone who could explain them for her.


As a child, she had had some alarming experiences involving precognition—the ability to sense the future—but she thought little about them. She had also had experiences indicating that she had communicated directly with her deceased uncle and others. In fact, she had assumed that anyone could do the same thing, since she had no basis for comparison. The perceptions that she received, she told a friend, were clearcut and distinct, like the unrolling of a film. Gradually, such incidents were becoming everyday occurrences.


She was a woman who plunged into life with zest. She was a realist, a pragmatist, and a thinker. In London, her friends and associates read like a list from Who’s Who—George Bernard Shaw, D. H. Lawrence, James Joyce, H. G. Wells, Robert Graves, Carl Jung, Lord Dunsany, Katherine Mansfield, Aldous Huxley, William Butler Yeats, Conan Doyle and a host of others. Although only informally educated, she could match them tidily with wit and


perception and she was liked and respected by the literary giants. Most of them flocked to her own London tearoom that she had established and operated as a latter-day version of Ben Jonson’s favorite coffeehouse.


But there were still these strange, surging powers that set her apart. They continued to nag and worry her. They were anything but cerebral; they came from her guts, her solar plexus, through her fingertips or the nape of her neck. She would see scenes in the lives of people she knew, as if they were projected on an inner screen in living color. Later, the scenes would take place just as she had seen them. In a crowded dining room at the Savoy, she saw a terrifying scene of her husband as he was shattered by a shell during the First World War. Two days later, the news from the War Ministry confirmed it.


Her intense desire to find out what this was all about had led her to Hewat McKenzie, a fiery Scot who had founded the British College of Psychic Science. As an enormously successful businessman and skeptic, he had gradually become convinced of the reality of psychic phenomena and of life after death, to say nothing of communication with those who had died. He appreciated the skepticism of those who had not studied the psychic evidence in depth and was a stickler about any fraudulent mediums who tried to use trickery or deception.


Of the many mediums he developed and trained, Eileen Garrett interested him the most. She had a no-nonsense attitude. She was interested in analyzing herself. She had a fearless desire to get at the truth, and so did McKenzie. Something rare and unusual was going on in this woman, but the ultimate answer still eluded him.


In 1928, McKenzie was preparing to retire from both business and the college, with his wife taking over the active work. In spite of working with many talented mediums, he found himself continually asking the question: Would there ever be another Eileen Garrett?


One day during these times of Britain’s struggle to establish air supremacy, Eileen Garrett was walking past London’s Holland Park on her way to the British College of Psychic Science, at about two in the afternoon. She was immersed in her thoughts about how to understand the mechanism of her constant psychic experiences. She was becoming convinced that man’s consciousness floated away from and above the mind or brain, into vast unknown regions.


For a moment, she paused in her thoughts to look up at the sky. There were thick but fleecy clouds up there, with the wind blowing them across the horizon. Suddenly, she saw a giant airship emerge from one of the clouds. It was brilliant silver, with a long and graceful streamlined shape. It was a beautiful sight, and she watched it intently, as it moved slowly westward.


Then it faltered. She saw it begin to wobble. Then it dipped down toward the ground. She was frozen with fear. Suddenly, puffs of smoke began pouring out of the envelope. The smoke swallowed up the control cabin and the engine pods. Then the clouds obscured it, and it was lost from sight.


The experience was vivid and real to her. At the college, she was hesitant to speak about it. The shock of the incident almost made her numb. Her reaction was amplified by another reason. Just two years before in 1926, she had gone through an almost identical experience, seeing a similar scene in the sky as she walked her dog near Hyde Park.


After she left the building, she rushed to a newsstand for the late newspaper editions. There was no news at all about any accident to any airship or airplane. All through the week, she checked the papers. There was still no news. She was deeply disturbed—was this another incident of precognition, a misplacement of time that had no rational explanation?


There were, of course, no airships flying in Britain at the time. Major Villiers and Sir Sefton Brancker were still busy preparing Parliament and the public for their eventual arrival, but that was the extent. The vision seen by Eileen Garrett was nothing at all like Captain Hinchliffe’s skimpy Stinson that had taken off so bravely on its intrepid journey. But all three of these airmen would be linked eventually through the single channel of Eileen Garrett’s paranormal capacities, in a way that none could know at the time.


As soon as he saw Hinchliffe’s plane fade into a black dot, Gordon Sinclair’s one thought was to slip away from the aerodrome. He had promised Elsie Mackay that he’d do everything possible to keep her role as co-pilot secret. He partially succeeded. Even The Times of London was to report the next morning that Sinclair himself was flying with Hinchliffe.


Sinclair’s escape into anonymity was short-lived. He tried to lie low in London briefly. When his scent became warm to reporters, he drove down to Surrey to join his wife and Emilie Hinchliffe to wait for news of her husband. Like Lindbergh’s Spirit of St. Louis, the Endeavor carried no wireless radio. They could only wait anxiously for whatever word would come in from Ireland or the ships at sea over which the fragile airplane might fly. Emilie knew that the plane had been poised and ready to take off, but she did not know exactly when. Gordon Sinclair confirmed it for her when he arrived. That Elsie Mackay was the passenger was, of course, no secret to Emilie. She knew the reasons, and there was nothing surreptitious about it.


She knew that her husband had taken every kind of precaution for safety—a special drift indicator, an advanced aircraft compass, the coating of the wings and fuselage with paraffin to discourage the forming of ice. Even though they both knew of the heavy risk involved, they had seldom spoken of it. When Emilie got the news of the departure she was thrilled and excited. She was filled with confidence, but she was also frightened.


At her home, she waited for news with Sinclair and his wife. The easterly winds across the British Isles were not altogether favorable. They extended for almost 1,000 miles out over the winter Atlantic, if Hinchliffe kept his ship on the northerly route. But there were snow and sleet showers that hung over the western coast of Ireland. A depression was centered about 800 miles west of the Scilly Islands, with the air moving east-southeast. More ominous news came that for some 500 miles of the route, there would be extremely thick clouds, with freezing rain and sleet. In the middle of the Atlantic, there would be stronger and more powerful northerly winds. They would be carrying snow and more sleet, with heavy squall showers. If the Endeavor could fight its way through this, there were lighter winds to the westward with clear, cold skies.


Sinclair, an expert, was not cheered by the weather news. Emilie Hinchliffe didn’t need to be an expert to agree with him. Her mind was sharp and precise; she had shared even her husband’s technical preparations. Although she was not religious, she found herself praying. In spite of her objections to orthodox theology, she recognized that she did believe in a Supreme Being of some kind, whatever it was. After stern, obligatory church and Sunday school in Holland, she had found no intellectual or emotional comfort in the conventional Protestant doctrines. She could never understand why anyone was supposed to worship in a crowded church. The more she had explored the world’s religions, the more she realized that she found no satisfactory answer at all in any of them.


Gordon Sinclair was in touch with the RAF station and the press by phone. It was now well past noon, and there was nothing but silence. A vague Irish report had come in to the papers that a plane had been sighted over County Waterford, 280 miles west of Cranwell aerodrome, at 11:30 A.M. Greenwich mean time. All vessels on the North Atlantic shipping routes were warned by wireless to keep a special watch for the plane.


Then suddenly, at 1:30 P.M., the chief lighthouse keeper of the Mizenhead lighthouse, in County Cork, looked up at the skies and saw a monoplane. It fitted the description of the Endeavor. It was passing over the village of Crookhaven, and it was heading westward toward the Atlantic, toward the steamship routes. Mizenhead and Crookhaven were some 400 miles west of the takeoff runway. The plane was averaging only 80 miles an hour.


The news—skimpy as it was—seized Emilie with joy. Shortly after, a radio message was intercepted from the French steamer Roussillon. The steamer was four days out of Bordeaux, heading toward America. The message was brief. It said that a plane passed low overhead, headed in the same direction. Commandant Fitzmaurice of the Irish Free State Air Force surmised that the craft was on a direct course toward Newfoundland.


Then there was total silence. At 3:45 A.M., the Sinclairs and Emilie were still up, finding sleep impossible. They had exhausted every source of news. Questioned by the press later, some forty hours after takeoff, when the last of the fuel would be certain to have run out, Emilie refused to give up hope.


If the plane had come down in the open sea, survival would be almost impossible. Two British airmen had been saved in 1919 by a small ship without wireless radio. For seven days no word had come of their safety. But that was a freak encounter. In spite of vague rumors of planes over the Newfoundland and New England coasts, there was little hope for optimism. By the time two weeks had gone by, it appeared certain that the North Atlantic had claimed two more victims.


At two o’clock in the morning of March 14, some 18 hours after Captain Hinchliffe’s monoplane had lifted from the runway at the Cranwell aerodrome, Squadron Leader Rivers Oldmeadow and Colonel G.L.P. Henderson, both of the RAF. were steaming northward toward England on the P.&O. ship Barrabool. Each was in his own stateroom asleep. They had been spending the winter of 1928 in South Africa, on a pleasant tour of duty, introducing Avro planes to that country.


The ship was well out at sea, somewhere south of the Canary Islands. Away from any newspapers for a considerable time, they knew nothing about Hinchliffe’s projected flight, even though they were old friends of his. In these days of pioneer aviation, practically every airman knew every other who flew for the Royal Air Force, or in a civil capacity. The bond was strong. There was great camaraderie among them. At the Royal Aero Club on Piccadilly or the Royal Aeronautical Society near Hyde Park Corner, discussions, dinners and cocktails created scenes of reminiscences of the past and projections into the future. The old school tie and the silver wing emblems blended together without effort.


Colonel Henderson had a rather strange capacity. It was one he was not very fond of. Several times in the past, he had discovered that he could look at a group photograph of an air squadron or family group or school activity and immediately point out those in the picture who were still living, and those who were dead. He had demonstrated this penchant only to his close friends. Squadron Leader Oldmeadow was one of them. Telling Oldmeadow about it, and demonstrating the ability to discern the living from the dead, gave Henderson a certain sense of relief by sharing this uncomfortable talent. It was a catharsis for him, if nothing else.


Outside the P.&O. ocean liner, the sea was untroubled in the South Atlantic waters. There were none of the squalls, the sleet and the snow that Hinchliffe—they called him “Hinch”—was facing in the North at that exact time, unknown to his two RAF friends. Squadron Leader Oldmeadow was comfortably asleep in his cabin. Very suddenly, his cabin door burst open. Oldmeadow sat up in shock and turned on the cabin light. Standing in the doorway was Colonel Henderson. He was in his pajamas. They were soaked in sweat. His face showed panic. He struggled to get words out. Then he said:




“God, Rivers, something ghastly has happened.”





He still had trouble with his words, but he went on.




“Hinch has just been in my cabin. Eye patch and all. He woke me up. It was ghastly. He kept repeating over and over again: ‘Hendy—what am I going to do? What am I going to do? I’ve got this woman with me, and I’m lost. I’m lost!’ Then he disappeared in front of my eyes! Just disappeared.”





Rivers Oldmeadow tried to calm his friend down. Nothing seemed to work. He poured three fingers of straight Scotch and it helped. Henderson calmed down. He finally went back to his cabin, and tried to sleep.


Three days later, a ship’s news sheet was posted on the bulletin board. It read: CAPTAIN RAYMOND HINCHLIFFE MISSING AFTER TRANS-ATLANTIC ATTEMPT.









CHAPTER II


Colonel Henderson and Squadron Leader Oldmeadow did the only thing they could do. They kept quiet. It would not be politic to talk about the ghost of a fellow airman. Such things could only be discussed in hushed whispers if at all. Serious interest in psychic matters was extant, but it was confined to a few. The collective mind could never seem to pinpoint exactly what it wanted to believe.


Deep as she was in the subject, Eileen Garrett could only search. With the writers that had flocked to her tearoom, she had a high-level sounding board to bounce her uncertainties from. She was not just interested in her psychic capacities. She devoured the works of Emerson and Walt Whitman. She jousted often at the Cafe Royale and other gathering spots in London with H. G. Wells and George Bernard Shaw on politics, and nursed D. H. Lawrence through his moods of bitterness and self-contempt. She viewed the contemporary scene through these eyes, and others equally perceptive, constantly weighing both the inner and outer world with a sense of wonderment.


There was a lot to wonder about. Through the decade there were violent changes under way, some of them not yet clearly defined. No sooner had the 1920’s begun than Einstein dropped his thoughts with the impact of the bomb that was later to follow from them. The shock was so great that it left people numb. They were barely aware of the impact, yet they sensed it: the old-fashioned classical physics was done with. Suddenly there was no hitching post in the universe. Atoms were no longer solid. They were microsolar systems, composed mainly of empty space. A nucleus the size of a pinhead would require half a football field to bridge the distance to its nearest electron, which would be barely visible. But more than that, Niels Bohr, Pauli, Heisenberg and others were revealing the mysterious world of subatomic particles. To Eileen Garrett, the new physics was beginning to appear as mystical as the paranormal.


To step inside the nucleus of an atom was to find yourself in a Fermi sea. But it was a sea made up of a swarm of excited, infinitely small gnats. They, in turn, were in a globular cluster, sort of a deformed sphere. They were rotating and vibrating. But the big cluster of the nucleus was probably made up of smaller clusters—forming a structure like a rasberry. Far in the distance were even smaller gnats, the electrons, with practically no mass. This new picture of the atom presented a new question: Was the material world material after all?


Physics was on the way to discover that these elementary particles might not even be particles. They might be just packets of energy that appeared and disappeared. They had no individual existence of their own. Discrepancies were everywhere, as they continue to be. So were uncertainties. If an observer poked his nose into this fuzzy ball of gnats, he’d upset the applecart. What he was trying to observe was no longer there. He might be able to find the speed of a gnat, but if he did that, he couldn’t tell where the individual gnat was. If he found its position, he couldn’t measure the speed. He had to work in probabilities.


It would boil down to the realization that matter was nothing more than regions of space where the field was very intense. The field was the only reality. Einstein said it. Others began to back him up.


This was the stuff that captured Eileen Garrett’s attention. She wanted to blend the strange psychic experiences she was encountering with a rational, scientific explanation. She disliked the ambience of the occult, yet she wanted to explore the startling phenomena that were bursting within her. Her intellectual spectrum was broad; she did not want it confined. She was in the spotlight as a medium. Yet she was more interested in finding out what makes a medium tick, a question she felt she could not answer without the aid of science.


She blended her work with Hewat McKenzie and the London Spiritualist Alliance, with London’s most chic literary salons, and the boiling sociopolitical controversies of the Fabian Society, as she continued to look for answers in the new trails science was blazing.


The absolute silence that followed the disappearance of Captain Hinchliffe and Elsie Mackay fractured all hope and replaced it with the certainty that death had come somewhere over the Atlantic, out of sight of both ships and shore. Emilie Hinchliffe hoped and prayed for days and weeks, even after it became obvious that no news would ever come again. Intellectually she accepted his fate; emotionally she did not. But Hinchliffe’s bright confidence in the venture before he left had dissolved to mourning and sorrow. His parents in Liverpool refused for days to give up hope, until the utter silence made it obvious there was none. Lord Inchcape, taciturn always, made only one statement to the press: “I know nothing about the reports of the flight.”


At the R-101 base in Bedford-Cardington, the flight crew and the builders of the R-101 scanned the papers and the aviation news for days in the hope that their fellow airman Hinchliffe might possibly be saved.


Every hazardous flight made at the time was followed with interest and a certain amount of apprehension. The R-101 airship crewmen were eventually going to face their own ultimate great adventure: the long air passage to India. Instead of the icy North Atlantic that Hinchliffe faced, they would be having problems with the blistering heat they would encounter. The critics were already assaulting the builders with the charge that the girder construction was too rigid. It would not permit the giant airship to flex. Its weight and balance, they claimed, would force the airship to fly most of the time either nose-up or nose-down, making the elegant dance floor a travesty. Lt. Colonel Richmond, the designer, was claiming that the new, plump design of the R-101 would offer less head resistance and less bending effect. The slimmer more tubular airships of the past were supposed to have 2 percent more drag. He was confident that the R-101 could take all the stresses it faced, either under way or at the mooring tower. What’s more, he was sure that the angle at which the ship would have to fly wouldn’t spill even a cup of tea.


Squadron Leader E. L. Johnston, who was to be navigator of the impending historic flight to India, was more interested in the navigating equipment he would have at his disposal than the tilt of the dance floor. Johnston had been a close friend of Captain Hinchliffe, and he viewed his loss over the Atlantic with painful intimacy. He had been loaned by the Air Ministry to Imperial Airways, and had flown as navigator with Hinchliffe many times just a year before. Johnston had navigated on the first Imperial Airways flight to India with him and they had struck up a close friendship. Johnston found it hard to understand what went wrong with the Stinson over the Atlantic.


Sir Sefton Brancker, whose faith in both the airship and the airplane was monumental, also found it difficult to understand what had happened to his friend Hinchliffe. Aside from the personal loss, he considered the tragedy as a severe setback to his passionate aims for the future of practical commercial aviation. At a time when it looked like a pipe dream he was convinced that planes and airships would actually carry tons of mail in the near future. He was also brash enough to say that planes might someday be flying at 30,000 feet—at over 300 miles an hour. They would even be able to navigate through any clouds or storms.


Of course, he was laughed at. He bustled about his business as Director of Civil Aviation, intent on opening up an aerodrome in every town in Britain for light “aeroplane clubs,” to build up a reserve of civil-trained pilots. Brancker always worked hard. But he rarely failed to show up at a first night on Piccadilly. Noel Coward and John Van Druten were his special friends, along with Gertrude Lawrence and Peggy Wood. He would dance half the night, and would persistently wilt half a dozen of the spare starched collars he carried with him.


Major Villiers was still trying hard to keep up with Brancker, sometimes despairingly. Brancker was crisp, abrupt, and always drove to the point at hand. He rarely permitted any diversionary chatter. Villiers looked up from his desk one day, when Brancker had just returned from giving a sermon on air progress in Spain.


Brancker had shaved his mustache, and to Villiers he seemed completely demilitarized.


“Good God, sir,” Villiers greeted him.


“He won’t help you,” Branckers said, adjusting his monocle. “What’s on your mind, Villiers?”


“Your mustache is gone, sir,” Villiers said.


“Forget it,” said Brancker. “How is the R-101 doing?”


Since the airship was the key to the future, it took up more and more of Villiers’ and Brancker’s time. Neither had any direct technical connection with it, but the delays in production made it urgent that the public continue to be informed, if not placated. Of special attention were the possible routes to India. Brancker had mapped them out himself. The hot days and cold nights that would be encountered could spell disaster if not fully prepared for. The R-101 could stay afloat only through the hydrogen gas in its bags. The heat would cause them to expand. The ship would then rise. The gas would automatically escape. When the cold of night struck, the reverse would happen. The gas would contract. Ballast would have to be thrown out to keep the ship from sinking. But there was just so much gas and so much water ballast to play with. It was a clumsy system. Secretly, Brancker worried about the R-101. He was not alone.


Captain Hinchliffe had had all the attributes of an old-fashioned hero. Aside from the war escapades that brought him the Distinguished Flying Cross, he was a well-rounded man. He spoke four languages. He was an avid reader. He won trophies in every sport he turned his hand to. He could paint. He had nerves of steel. Shortly after he had lost his eye, he was back in a plane, flying again.
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Stranger and even more compelling
than his best-selling The Ghost of Flght
401, journalist John G. Fuller turns his
talents to the historic crash of the great
British dirigible R101, the luxury lighter-
than-sir behemoth that was to revolu-
tionize travel in the 1930s.

The complex and absolutely spell-
binding tale begins in 1928 when a
‘monoplane carrying famed World War |
ace Captain Raymond Hinchliffe and his
copilot, the flamboyant heiress-actress
Elsie Mackay, vanishes without a trace
over the stormy Atlantic. As news o the
disappearance makes front-page head-
lines around the world, British workers
race to complete the largest and most
advanced airship yet designed, the
monumental R101. Neither medium
Eileen Garrett’s terrifying pre-vision of a
dirigible tragedy, nor an even more
fearful warning from the dead Captain
Hinchliffc to- another mystic, Mrs. Earl,
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